Fermoy and the Upper

Blackwater Basin.
Fermoy is one of the most picturesque of our country towns. Situated on both sides of the Blackwater, partly in the valley by its banks and partly on the rising grounds above them, it is pleasantly set amidst wooded slopes interspersed with handsome seats and pretty villas.

One of the finest views of Fermoy and its surroundings can be had from the magnificent bridge connecting the northern and southern portions of the town. Here the spectator has around him pictures of rare scenic loveliness. From the West beneath the shadows of the Nagle Mountains the Blackwater, deep and widespread, moves slowly and majestically along. As it approaches the town its glassy bosom, studded with dainty pleasure-boats, is bordered on the one side by the fine elm-shaded Barnane Walk and on the other by a finely-timbered lawn. At one end of the bridge opens out the spacious ‘Square’ adorned with rows of vigorous young limes, and surrounded by well-proportioned business premises. Along a gentle acclivity to the South, overlooking the entire extent of the town, is a long procession of ecclesiastical buildings, including the Roman Catholic Church, St Colmans College, Bishop Murphy’s Memorial Institute, the Presbytery, as well as three convents with their appurtenant chapels and schools.

Many of these imposing structures standing on the crest of the hill, with their proportions limned against Corrin Hill in the background, boldly challenge attention; others modestly nestle in niches on the slopes and reveal themselves only by roofs or spires or turrets that rise above the girdling greenery.

Looking now over this beautiful expanse of hillside one would find it hard to realise that little more than a century ago it was entirely covered by one large overgrown furze brake. But such in truth was the case. All these graceful edifices perched high above Blackwater ‘glossing their glories in its flood’, all the business establishments by its banks and all the surrounding richness of foliage are the growth of comparatively recent times. For Fermoy is a town of modern date. It has no ancient charters, it possesses no hoary ruins telling stories of the past, it has no record of sieges endured or of great battles fought in its defence or for its possession.

The historian Smith tells us that in his time, about the middle of the eighteenth century, Fermoy was but an unimportant village. Even fifty years later it had, as a town, made little progress. In its present form it owes its origins almost entirely to the energy and enterprise of a Scotchman named John Anderson. Of humble origin in early life he worked in obscure occupations. He saved some money in Glasgow with which he came to Cork where he set up as a merchant. He was so successful that in or about 1790 he was able to pay a large sum for an estate on the banks of the Blackwater. He was a man who delighted in large undertakings and he was determined to establish a town on his new property. In 1796 and 1797 the country was growing disturbed. The United Irishmen were becoming more active and the Government, alarmed by the attempted French invasion at Bantry Bay, were looking out for a site for a barracks in the South of the country. Anderson, realising the advantages  such an establishment would confer on his infant town, came forward with an offer, rent-free, of sufficient land on which to erect it. Around the barracks other buildings, public and private, soon arose. Anderson was a generous contributor to schools and churches of all denominations. He founded a bank, promoted companies, established an agricultural society, and undertook to run, at his own expense, the mail coach between Cork and Dublin passing through Fermoy. He invited men of capital to settle down in his new town where he had provided attractive amenities for his rapidly increasing community.

For twenty years Fermoy continued to grow and flourish under his fostering care. But his other enterprises were not all equally happy. Some of his speculations proved unfortunate. In the slump at the close of the Napoleonic wars financial tolls gathered around him and, to the regret of hosts of friends, the philanthropic career of the great John Anderson was brought to a premature close.

But Fermoy was safe. Its foundations were securely laid. It is perhaps a unique instance of a town (unaided by any particular form of industrial activity) owing its origin, growth and mature development to the genius and enterprise of a single individual. In 1848 it had a population of seven thousand at which figure it stood down to recent times.

Up to the time of the ‘Treaty’ Fermoy continued to be a great military town, thousands of British soldiers, many with wives and families, being quartered there. However repugnant to our patriotic sensibilities the presence of this foreign garrison in our midst might have been, there can be no question of the material advantages the townspeople derived from catering for it and of the loss they sustained by its departure.

St. Fanahan, St. Molagga and St. Colman

Though Fermoy town, as we have seen, lacks the glamour of antiquity, the ground on which it stands has historical associations dating back to far distant times. In the sixth century St. Fanahan founded here a monastery, which long afterwards flourished as an educational establishment. St. Fanahan was one of the saints associated with the introduction of Christianity into this region. He is said to have been the son of an Ulster Chieftain who was exiled from his province and who subsequently resided near Fermoy. St. Fanahan was for a time abbot of Bangor in succession to the great Comgall. He established a monastery near Mitchelstown, which grew to be an institution of great importance. His ‘well’ there is a much-frequented place of pilgrimage, especially on its Pattern Day, 24th November.

St. Fanahan imposed on himself a severe ascetic discipline, one form of which was to lie during the first night of burial in the same grave with every corpse brought to his church for interment.

For over a hundred years after St. Patrick’s time paganism flourished in many parts of Ireland, and long after the druid had ceased to chant his rites throughout the country generally he was still an honoured individual in North East Cork. St. Molagga, St. Colman and St. Fanahan took particularly active parts in spreading the Faith in this region. St. Molagga was a native of the district and a descendent of the druid Mogh Ruith, referred to later in this article. His name survives in Temple Molagga and in the Leaba Molagga where he is reputed to be buried. He is said to have founded many churches and monasteries throughout the country, the best known of these being the Abbey at Timoleague (Tigh Molagga.). St. Molagga is credited with having introduced hive-bees into Ireland.

St. Colman, a native of Muskerry, was himself a pagan until middle life. He was a scholar and a poet and was the royal bard in the king’s court at Cashel. In his forty-eighth year he was miraculously converted by the famous St. Brendan, the Navigator, the travelling saint who is said to have discovered America nine hundred years before the time of Colombus. After his conversion St. Colman became a disciple of St. Brendan in whose honour he wrote an Irish poem still extant. To distinguish this St. Colman from other saints of similar name (of whom there are many) he is generally known as Colman Mac Lenin. He laboured with a great zeal as a missioner in East Cork and he established a great ecclesiastical centre at Cloyne. As first Bishop and Patron of Cloyne diocese he gives his name to the great cathedral in Cove and to the Diocesan College in Fermoy. His feast day is celebrated on the 24th November and nowhere perhaps more joyously than in this College where it is an occasion of an annual holiday for the students.

Fermoy Abbey

Centuries after St. Fanahan’s monastery had ceased to exist a Cistercian Abbey dedicated to ‘Our Lady de Castro Dei’ was erected close to the Blackwater at Fermoy. Not a trace of it exists today. Its site is indicated by the name Abbey Street, the title of the lane to the west of the southern end of the bridge. The name of its founder and the date of its erection are not known with certainty. The weight of evidence, however, assigns it to the year 1171 ; that is, anterior to the advent of those Norman Flemings, Roches, and Condons to whom in turn some writers have attributed its foundation. That it was a house of importance is understood from the fact that in 1226 its prior was elected Bishop of Cloyne, and we also find that in 1480 its Abbot was chosen Bishop of Waterford. For nearly four hundred years it held the quiet tenor of its way in peaceful seclusion beside the broad Blackwater. Its white-robed inmates prayed within the Abbey and laboured in its gardens, and its matin, midday, and the vesper bells echoed far along the sequestered valley.

But Henry VIII put an end to its serene existence. On the dissolution of Irish Monasteries about 1540 the monks were expelled from Fermoy and the rich lands on both sides of the Blackwater with which the Abbey had been endowed were confiscated. These passed afterwards into various hands including those of the Grenville family, of the Earl of Cork, and of a Sir Humphrey Warren. They eventually came to belong to three sisters named Misses Forwards, one of whom married a Garret Nagle. A son of theirs, another Garrett Nagle figured in 1798 in a famous, or infamous, prosecution of a Mr ‘Mon’ Roche* of Kildinan against whom trumped-up charges of ‘felonious’ activities had been made.

Among the purchases, which Mr. Anderson made around Fermoy, was a large part of the former Abbey lands. After the expulsion of the monks the Abbey fell into decay and what remained of its walls was taken down in 1791, when new houses were being built on its site. The name Abbey Street is now the solitary reminder of the great religious house that once flourished here.

Castlehyde

A few miles west of Fermoy is the imposing mansion of Castlehyde, picturesquely situated on the northern bank of the Blackwater. It derives its name from an English family named Hyde, the first of whom, an Arthur Hyde, came over as an ‘Undertaker’ at the close of the Desmond Rebellion towards the end of the sixteenth century. Irish land at this time was being distributed on a lavish scale ; and here by the sunny banks of the Blackwater, Hyde was presented with six thousand acres at a nominal rent on condition that he should plant on them twenty-four English settlers. On the uprising that took place following Hugh O’Neill’s great victory at the Yellow Ford in 1598, Hyde, like his fellow undertaker, Spenser, farther west by the Blackwater, was driven from his Irish Estates. In Spenser’s case his castle at Kilcolman was burned, one of his children perished in the flames, and he himself fled to London where he died in want a short time afterwards. Hyde, however returned to the Blackwater valley after O’Neill’s defeat at Kinsale and for nearly three hundred years he and his descendants ruled uninterruptedly at Castlehyde. In 1850 the place passed into the hands of the Beechers, another family that came to Ireland at the same time as the Hydes and under precisely similar circumstances. Much has been written both in prose and verse about the beauties of ‘Sweet Castlehyde’ just across the valley opposite the historic hill of Corrin.

‘Now farthest Corrin brightens and the tide

Of splendour, spreading, rests upon these bowers,

Hymned by rude bard where loveliest Castlehyde

Mirrors in dark blue Avonduff its towers’

The ‘rude bard’ to whom Simmons alludes in the above lines was a local poet, who tells us that:

‘The wholesome air of this habitation

Would recreate your heart with pride.

 There is no valley throughout the nation 

In beauty equal to Castlehyde.’

And again:

‘Tis there you’d hear the thrushes warbling,

The dove and partridge I now describe,

The lambkins sporting every morning

All to adorn sweet Castlehyde.’

After that we cannot be surprised to hear that:

‘The trout and salmon play at backgammon

All to adorn sweet Castlehyde’

The bard might be rude but he was able to give the ‘retort courteous’ if the occasion required it. After enumerating the many beautiful places through which he had travelled he ended up declaring that:

‘In all my ranging and serenading

I saw none to equal sweet Castlehyde.’

Thinking no doubt that his verses would be properly appreciated and duly rewarded the bard took his production to the owner of Castlehyde. This gentleman, it would appear, was not personally in keeping with the beauty or the sweetness of his domains. His shoulders were somewhat out of plumb and his temper, at least when the poet called on him, was sadly out of tune. He treated the effusion with contempt and peremptorily ordered the author away. But the insulted bard was equal to the occasion. He forthwith changed the conclusion to read:


‘In all my ranging and serenading


I met no naygur but humpy Hyde.’

In Castlehyde Inch, south of the Blackwater, was fought, in the year 1832, one of the last public duels in Ireland. The principals were a Doctor O’Brien of Mitchelstown and ‘Councillor’ O’Mahony of Kilbehenny. O’Mahony was a brother of the celebrated Colonel John O’Mahony, one of the leaders of the ‘48 Insurrection and subsequent Head-Centre of the Fenians of America.

Pistols were the weapons used in this encounter. The large crowd present was almost entirely in sympathy with O’Mahony and when he fell wounded at the first exchange they rushed for his opponent who narrowly escaped by swimming the river. He was rescued later on by a Mr.William O’Connell of Rathcormac.

Douglas Hyde, the first President of Eire, is a scion of the Castlehyde family, one of the many instances of foreign families who came into this country and whose members in course of time have grown ‘more Irish than the Irish themselves’

At various periods during the eighteenth century the Hydes of Castlehyde sat in the Irish Parliament as members for Youghal, Midleton, and Tralee, as well as for Cork and Carlow Counties.

Ballyhooley

The whole region on the northern side of the Blackwater from Fermoy westwards abounds in ruins and sites of ancient castles, abbeys, and churches. It teems with traditions and legends as well as with historical and fairy tales. The Four Masters mention a battle fought at Ballyhooley as far back as 627 A.D.

The famous road connected with the legendary ‘White Cow’ of East Cork ran from the ‘Great Island’ across the Blackwater at Ballyhooley, thence to Ahacross on the Funcheon and on to Cashel of the Kings.

Ballyhooley, Baile-Átha-Hubhla (the apple ford), is said to have got its name from St. Carthage when he made use of an apple found at the the ford to indicate that he had miraculously cured the withered arm of a young maiden, daughter of a king of Fearmuighe. He offered the apple to the girl and she stretched out her good hand but he bade her to use the other. She did so and thereupon found its strength restored.

This ford was formerly a place of much military importance and on the rising ground to the north are the ruins of a castle built by the Roches to command its passage. About a mile to the east of Ballyhooley, on the northern side of the Blackwater, is the ancient graveyard of Killathy. During the Penal Days a priest resided for sometime near by. Across the valley to the south of the river there lived a Major Grimes and his family. It occurred to the gallant Major that he might do a good night’s work for his king and country, and incidentally perhaps for his own pocket, by arresting and imprisoning the priest. While he and his three sons were making arrangements for this purpose a fool who belonged to the household overheard their plans and thought of warning the priest. To reach Killathy the Grimes quartette had to come on to Fermoy in order to cross the Blackwater. As soon as they had set out on their mission the fool ran down to the river and crying out ‘Abha mhor. Abha mhor, na báidh ‘madawn Peadar’ (‘Blackwater, Blackwater, don’t drown Peter the fool’) he jumped in and got safely across although he was unable to swim. The priest received timely warning and when the ‘hunters’ arrived they found they had drawn a blank.

The Grimes family are said to have been overtaken by a tragic fate. One brother shot another. A third was dragged into the Blackwater by hounds he had on leash. The fourth became mentally affected, while the father in his old age was a homeless mendicant. Tradition points to a nameless slab in Killathy churchyard as marking the burial place of the family.

Notable Trees by the Blackwater

Many parts of the Blackwater valley along here, especially on its northern side, were once very finely wooded and they still contain some notable individual trees. At Castlehyde there are yews believed to be four hundred years of age, and a beech tree in the same place, some seventeen feet in girth, is held to be the finest of its kind in the country. The ‘Tree of Power’ in Conwaymore near Ballyhooley was a special feature of that great demesne until it was blown down by a storm some years ago. There are, too, the ‘Sacred Trees’ of Clenor and Killura, both under the patronage of St. Cranat. Among the extraordinary powers with which the saint is believed to have invested them is immunity from drowning to anybody who has part of one of them in his possession.

Near Killavullen, at a place called Renny, is Spenser’s Tree with its well-known ‘seat’ in which the great but strongly anti-Irish poet wrote part of his famous ‘Faery Queen’

When our countrysides, as at present, are being divested of so much of their sylvan beauties, when the axe is being so widely if necessarily wielded, it is to be hoped that an appeal to the woodman to spare these ancient and venerable landmarks will not pass unheeded.

The Black Art

The Black Art, it is recorded, played a very important part in the early history of this Blackwater district of which we are now treating. Away back in the Pagan days of the third century Cormac Mac Airt, the High King of Ireland, invaded Munster. He brought with him his druids and soothsayers who by their magic wrought havoc on the southern province. There was at this time in Valentia in West Kerry a blind druid named Magh Ruith. To him the Munster king, in his extremity, appealed, promising him whatever reward he should name if he came to the assistance of the southern army. Magh Ruith acceded to his wish and by the exercise of his extraordinary magical powers (so the tale goes), defeated and routed the invaders. As a recompense he demanded and obtained the fair, fertile basin of the Blackwater from Fermoy to Mallow. Here he and his sons settled down and from them descended the powerful tribe of the O’Duggans, the pre-Norman rulers of this area.

Mallow District

Mallow, on the northern bank of the Blackwater, twenty miles west of Fermoy, is an ancient and historic town. It played an important part in the wars of the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries at which period it was protected by two strong fortresses. At the northern end of the town stood Short Castle, of which nothing is now left; and at the opposite side commanding the bridge over Blackwater was the great Geraldine stronghold whose ivied ruins today form a picturesque object overlooking the pleasant valley.

On the outbreak of the rebellion of 1641 Colonel William Jephson was active on behalf of the English and with Lords Broghill and Inchiquin was entrusted with the government of Munster He vigorously prosecuted the war against the Confederate Catholics and personally raised a force of horse and foot to fight against them. However, in 1644, Lord Castlehaven, one of the Irish generals, captured Mallow among many southern towns. In the course of these wars Jephson’s (Geraldine) Castle suffered much and at their close was left in a ruinous condition.

At the beginning of the seventeenth century Mallow was a place of much importance and in 1612 it was granted a charter of incorporation by James 1. From the Treaty of Limerick to the Act of Union it was, with few interruptions, represented in the Irish Parliament by one of the Jephsons.

Mallow was the birthplace of many famous men. Amongst these were Thomas Davis, one of the leaders of the Young Ireland party, and the author of some of our most patriotic and stirring songs ; Dr. Croke, the great Archbishop of Cashel, one of the founders of the GAA and one of its most active and zealous patrons ; Canon Sheehan, the great litterateur who has left us so many volumes descriptive of Irish and clerical life; and William O’Brien, one of the most fearless and militant of Parnell’s lieutenants in the long drawn-out fight against Landlordism and Coercion.

There were other remarkable Mallow men who attained notoriety in the service of England rather than of their own country, such men as Edward O’Sullivan, M.P., who became Attorney General and subsequently Lord Chancellor of Ireland in the second half of the last century; Robert Holmes and James Tuckey celebrated sea captains, the former in the reign of Charles 1 and the latter a century later. Anthony Trollope, the famous novelist, lived in Mallow for some years. So too did Sir William St. Leger who from the Castle nearby kept proud sway over the province of which he was later Lord President.

In the vicinity of Mallow there are many places of interest to the antiquarian and to the historian. At Mourneabbey, three or four miles to the south, are the ruins of an abbey, or preceptory, founded about the year 1200 for the Knights Templars. In the neighbourhood of Mourneabbey a bloody battle took place in the early part of the sixteenth century between the MacCarthys and the Fitzgeralds. Two hundred and sixty years earlier at Callan, near Kenmare, in a battle between the same two families, the Fitzgeralds suffered a disastrous defeat.

Historians tell us that the feud continued between the families down through the years. In 1520, James, eleventh Earl of Desmond, invaded Muskerry with a large force. In the battle, which ensued near Mourneabbey MacCarthy, had the assistance of the Earl’s uncle and enemy, Sir Thomas who himself afterwards became an Earl and was known as Thomas the Bald. Over a thousand of Desmond’s men were slain. He himself escaped by flight, but two others of his uncles, Gerald and John, the latter a future Earl, were made prisoners.

To the west of Mourneabbey the ruins of Castlemore, or Barrett’s Castle, stand out prominently on an eminence near the railway line. The castle as well as the barony in which it is situate got its name from a Welsh family named Barrett who settled down here at an early period of the Norman Invasion. It is related that when Hugh O’Neill was passing by Castlemore on his way to Kinsale in 1600 he inquired who lived in the castle. On being told it was a Barrett, a Catholic gentleman whose family had been there for over four hundred years, he is reported to have replied, ‘No matter, I hate the English bodach as if he had come but yesterday.’ All foreign intruders were English ‘bodachs’ as far as Hugh O’Neill was concerned.

Caves and Cairns in the District

On the southern side of the Blackwater there are found deep roomy caves stretching far in beneath the hills. The best known of these is, perhaps, that at Gortmore, to the west of Mallow, long associated in song and story with the name of Daniel O`Keeffe, the outlaw of Duhallow. In this almost inaccessible retreat, on the side of a cliff overhanging the Blackwater, O’Keeffe long eluded his enemies. A young girl named Margaret O’Kelly, to whom he was much attached,was his confidante, aiding him in his dangers and helping to keep him supplied in his cave. The large price on O’Keeffe’s head at length tempted the faithless, fair one. She arranged with an English officer to betray him. But before she had the opportunity to do so O’Keeffe discovered her treachery and stabbed her to death in his cave. Edward Walsh, a Waterford man of the ‘Young Ireland’ period, makes this tragedy the subject of a beautiful poem in which he represents O’Keeffe as lamenting the fate of his beloved. The last two of its six stanzas are as follows:

‘Alas! That my loved one her outlaw would injure–

Alas! That he e’er proved her treason’s avenger!

That his right hand should make thee a bed cold and hollow

When in death’s sleep it laid thee, young Maureen Nee Chealla!

And while to this lone cave my deep grief I’m venting

The Saxon’s keen bandogs my footsteps are scenting;

But true men await me afar in Duhallow–

Farewell, Cave of Slaughter, and Maureen Nee Chealla.’
O’Keeffe escaped and continued for years to baffle his enemies. He led a life of much privation and hardship until a second effort to betray him proved successful. A ‘host’ of his notified the Red Coats. These quickly surrounded the house and shot down the fugitive as he was endeavouring to cleave his way though the encircling cordons. O’Keeffe was one of the most remarkable and daring of the Raparees who disturbed the peace of the English settlers after the Treaty of Limerick.

At Rahan near Killavullen there is another remarkable cave with a very wide entrance, twenty feet in breadth and of corresponding height. Here the fairies are ‘believed’ to hold their court and their festivities, and to keep a local piper in captivity. By evil chance this poor man lay down one night at the mouth of the cave and fell asleep. He may have indulged a little too freely but, unluckily for him, the fairy king found him and took him away in under the mountain and beyond a subterranean stream in the cave. He has never since returned. The  ‘good people’ must have thought him and his pipes too valuable an addition to the gaiety of their revels to let him out again. It was freely asserted that the music of his pipes used to be heard on stormy nights swelling through the cave and echoing round its precincts.

On the summits of four of the loftiest peaks of the Nagle Mountains between Fermoy and Mallow are vast cairns whose mysteries have for centuries exercised he minds of antiquarians. The most remarkable of these is that on Corrin Hill at the Eastern end of the chain. The urns found a hundred years ago in the cists beneath this cairn are held to be of great archaeological value in helping to elucidate the evolution of sepulchral art in early times. Five or six miles west of Corrin on the summit of a peak known as Sugar Loaf Hill there is another of these huge cairns. It is of a tower-like shape some twelve feet high and over two hundred feet in circumference. A similar pile crowns the ‘Maolawn’ an elevated hill overlooking the Blackwater opposite Killavullen. The erection of these cairns must have been a work of immense labour. The hillsides themselves are largely devoid of stones and the presumption is that those forming the collections on the hilltops were brought from the lowlands. Many antiquarians tell us that these cairns are great monuments over the graves of ancient kings and princes. If so they are no less a tribute to the loyalty and fidelity of the subjects who dragged those immense masses up such deep and difficult ascents.

To the northeast of the Maolawn, cresting another hill, we have the fourth of these cairns. This is known as ‘Seechawn na Mná Finne.’ Some translate the name as  ‘The Seat of the Fairy Lady.’ Others as ‘The Seat of the Phoenician Lady.’ And others again as ‘The Seat of the Enchanted Lady.’ or of ‘The Fenian Lady.’ There is a rather naïve tradition that the lady in question was of such colossal proportions that she could, while standing on the hill-top, extend one arm to the Blackwater and the other to the Bride. Had she been living at the present day the question of her ‘coupons’ would be something of a problem for the Minister of Supplies.

This ‘Seechawn,’ a huge irregular accumulation of large loose stones, does not indeed appear as if it could be a very pleasant or inviting ‘seat’ for a fair lady.

These hills command extensive views of beautiful and diversified landscape. Immediately beneath are the picturesque wooded valleys of the Bride and Blackwater, stretching far into the distant County Waterford. The undulating hills and vales of Barrymore and Kinnataloon roll away southward towards Imokilly and the sea, while on the opposite side spreads the fertile plain of ancient Fearmuighe. This last was long a principality of the O’Keeffes, and later of the O’Duggans. In modern times it was known as the country of the Roches, a Norman family who came to Ireland in the early years of the invasion, and who gave their name to Castletownroche, pleasantly situated in the distance on the banks of the Awbeg. The whole plain is dotted with ruins of their castles and with the remains of the monasteries and churches, which they founded and richly endowed. In the Abbey of Bridgetown, at the confluence of the Awbeg and Blackwater, many of their great nobles were buried.

Disaster overtook these Roches in the seventeenth century. They espoused the cause of Charles I but, with the success of the Cromwellians, their estates became forfeit. The Lord Fermoy of the day, as the leader of the House had been called, accompanied Charles II into exile and shared with the fugitive king his pay as Colonel of a French regiment. He taxed his resources so heavily in his efforts to help the penniless monarch that he ran himself into debt and had to eventually sell out his commission. When Charles II was afterwards back on the English throne he forgot the benefactor of the days of his need and refused to restore Lord Fermoy to his honours and his estates.

After a reign of nearly four hundred years the Roches’ days of power were gone, their possessions had passed into the hands of their Cromwellian successors. But the cycling centuries eventually do their work. As the supremacy of the O’Keeffes, the O’Duggans, and the Roches passed in turn away, so too we have seen in our own day the descendants of these Cromwellians dethroned.  ‘Fearmuighe of the smooth mounds’ has again reverted to the ‘mere Irish’ who here today, as throughout the length and breadth of Eire are unchallenged masters in their own land.

*See the article on “Spies, Informers and Felonsetters on page 290 (ed)

